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A Short History of The Hdldge

Some ten thousand years ago the last grsat glaclers
sllently,ﬁelted northward marking the end of the Wizconsin Ice
Age. In their wake they deposited the Blenheir Moralne which
even after several millenium of erosion still poses a strilking
physical feature accross south sastern Kent County. Although
of very small relief when compared with other more eslevated
parts of the province, it is still an outstanding landform to
those who have travelled the flat and fertile tablelands of
South Western Ontario., Originating in the south east cornar
of Raleigh townshlip, the ridge quickly rises and broadens out
into a wide plateau with several paralleliung ridges along it's
summit., Paralleling the north shore of Lake Erie the ridge cuts
accross the townships of Harwich, Howard, Orford and eventually
ﬁerminates in Elgin County.

Although the moraine rises to better than 150 feet above
the waters of Lake Erie the action of tlme and water have made
it(s grade a rather smooth transition along most of it?’s lenght.
Thus much of the moralne is not recognizable as a ridge but
more an'inclined plain, However in Harwich and iloward "Ths
Ridge" ag it is still called locally, hes retained it's steep
slopes and rolling hHills, This is the area whlch this esssay
will discuss, That® region extending from the Centre Line in
Rarwich Eo the Foward Road 1inm Howard and bebween the fourth
and eighth concessions of the Lake Erie Survey in Harwlch and
including a portion of the Townline Range. In ihls section the
Ridgze broadens into a ever widening pEateny marked off by four
ridges: the Bacl, Centre, Front sad Lower ér Sprinz uliich all
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parallél the platzad., Originally larges mars™s were Ctrapped
ﬁetwenn these ridges on top of the plateau hul eflorts by
modern man YHave succeed im draining them off. This history
will trace the importance and various settlemants of The
didzge..

Originally submerged by the flood waters left by ths
retreating glaciers the ridge was the first land of Kent to
rise from fhe raceding waters of that postzlacial lake named
Warrsn., 3Several lines of ancient bzaches and sea cllfic are
gtched along Lhe ridges marking the various stasges of lLake
Warren as it receded to form the present lakes of Erie and
Sts Clair. Man and life rapidly returned to thls area from
the warmer south, Evidence of this is the prehistoric Folsom
arrowheads and numerous pebble tools found along the hills,
Fish would have teemed in the shallow lakes CLrappzd Letwesn
the ridges as plant' and animal life rapidly re-established
themselves on the warm, rich, gravell hills. The small lakes
would gradually silt in forming the greal marshs which later
settigrs would first avold and then congusr,

The earliest Ridge dwellers hunted the woolly mastadon
vhose skeletal remains are still found occasioually in the
flats, It' appears that these primitive hunters frightened
the great beasts into attempting escapes throuvh the mecrshes
vhen cornerad by fire., Here the large animal floundering in
the water 2nd mud bYecame a umuch easier prey to kill,

Several rnative culilures have flourishad along the lidge
8s tesified to by the numerous finds at the archaeological

excavations at! the Indian 'Fortress' near Clearville, The
f !
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zost noted trihe het%; the Attiowandarons whase name trauslates
as *The FPoople with The Land®™ or more liverally 2s 'the best
gouniry' or 'God's lLand'. Thisz title fits well with the rich
and fertile soil of tre area as any farmer will tell you.
Fhysically superior in proportion and strenght to their close
cousins: the Iroguois and Eurons, the Attiowandaroas were
further advanced and developed in culbture and socltety as well

in the s8kills of hunting, fishirg, husbandry, agriculture,

warfare and weaponry than any other Great Lakes tribe., Their
tradings in tobacco ahd flinﬁ weaponry and tools, in which
they were expert artificers, sent runners and traders out

wno returned with treasures of shells and stones from both
ogean cozsts as well as the Gulf of Mexico., The Attiowandaron
empire stretched along the north shore of Lake Erie across
the Niagarisn Penninsula and as far east' as Rochester, New
York. In the west it extended well into lower ichigan,

It‘s northern naiShﬁbur. tke Petun or Tobhacco tribe of
Georgian Bay pald annual tribtute to this powerful nation
while the cunning Hurons and filerce Iroguois respected but
feared their cousins= Tne Ridge played an important role in
this vast empire a2 the majdr coastal route, Several major
tralls ran along the ridge, one of which connected Nlagara

to the Detroit River., The present Front 31ldge Road is part
of this early roadway. Feollowing the height of land along
thz southern edge of the Ridge plateau to avold the numesrous
marshes and swamps of the flats and lowlands,'the road cont-
inued ezstwardly to the 'Fortress' near C%earville and on to
£ha 'Earthworks' at Southwold and the impértgnt flint beds
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of Foint Albino et Niagara., To tve weast the trall followied
the ridge to a2 major town rear Highbanlks in Raleigh and hance
to the Leaming Lon Yoraine and Nindaor. It should be noled
that this +ra11 survived well into the last century ac a road
way, wheén modern surveys otliterated it except for Lhe Front
Ridze RHoad in Harwich and those stretchs that the Talbob Street
( Hwy. # 3.) followed in eastern Kent and Essex Countles,
Ruins of several small villages have been located along the
remainihg trail, In 1640, Jean de Brebeuf and Joseph Yarie
Chaumonot, the Jesuit martyrs probably treked along this
trail on their 'Mission of The Angels' to La Natlon lisutre
which the French had nswed the Attiowandaron tribe, Here
were the first whites to set foot upon the ridge as they
Journeyed from St. Alexis ( Southwold earthworks ) to 3t Josepnh
( near Chatham ) preaching and stopping at the small villages
along the ridgeﬂ

Other trails also transversed the moraine. The Back
Ridge Boad testifles to another trall which hugged the north-
ern edge of the ridge, joining up the more inland villages.
A major village in Rondeau Provincial Park as well as two
others on Big Creek in Howard were connected by several tralls
which transversed the Ridge northardly to ilc Gregor Creck ,
the Thames, the Sydenham and eventually Lake Huron. Being
sedimentary people they cleared vast tracks of land to grow
corn, squash, beans, tobacco and pumpkins which thesc rozdways

2

carried into the major towns a long with their trade in {lint

and tobacco, The eastern approach to tha Ridge as well as

the fertile cornfields in the Thames Valley wac safe guarded

.
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Map marking the location of unusual remains found under the Front Ridge Road in 1972,
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\ __llv2' 'm-south profile

i of the Front Ridge Road-

2. Drain placed 10 to 12 feet under the surface,

...area excavated by bulldoxers to assist the trencher in achieving maximun depth,

@ Stones in association with remains,

? Charcoal post holes

¥GCravel filled post holes

O Present maple trees

@ Hydro poles

@ Fire places

By Unusual square pits filled with small pebbles blackened with charcoal and tar like

¢ find of several Indian artifacts substance
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Schematic of Front Ridge Road, Lot 18, west of Mull Side Road.
- showing unusual remains and Indian fire places found 2 to 4 feet under the surface
Tty A of the road bed during the 1972 construction on the road
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Wy the 'Fortress' near Clesrville, However in 1650 the Neutral
nation collapsed as their fierce cousins, the Irogquols srmed
#ith English and Dutch gune first annihilated the Hurons and
then turned their vengenance on the Attlowandarons, After
a fierce struggle the Neutrals succumbzd to the Iroquois’
superior weaponry and were wiped from the face of the earth,
Although now ccppletely emptied of people the Iroquois did
not resettle the area but left it as an open hunting ground
with wandering bahds of hunters being its only occupants,
The major Neutral roadways were kept open by trese
wandering bands but the vast open cornfields of the Neutrals
slowly returned to the primeval forest., So vast were some
of these clearings that white settlers were able to take
advantage of these breaks in the bush as John Gibson would
nearly one hundred and fifty years after their abtandonment.
Only French and later British fur traders would trudge along
the Ridge tralls in search of beaver which thrived in the
marshy bush, Not' until the late 1790's did settlers begin
to travel along the ancient Neutral trails of the Ridge to
new homes in the west, Few dared to venture deep into the
rarshy woods away from the old trail which was then called
the Lower Ridge Road but presently called the Front Ridge.

rd

Wnhile settlement progressed rapidly along the shores

L&)

of Lake Erie and the banks of the Thames, the Ridge remained
empty due to the dense and wild primeval forest in the south
portion of Harwich which included the Ridge. So forbidding
and forlorn was the region that it earnedathe title and

reputstion of 'The Ten iile Bush' even though the forest was

H
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one continuous stand along the lake.
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Thig titls would det’ with the sres untid well uafter tho %50t
Settlement would he furthered delaidad by the Uar of 1412

-

although some action was seen along the Ridge. OSetb

tisrs of
the  Thames fearing for their livestock herded thair eatil:
and horsgs.along the Lovwer Ridge Road to Pointe 3ﬁx Flni bto
hide them from the advancing American army. Local militias
as.well as those sent out by the Talbok Scttlemcﬂﬁ fartnar
east patrolled theAﬂldge'for American marauders. Sevoral
skirmishes are reported to have cccured alongs the Ridge.

One of these battles was located just east of thz Centre Iline
on the Front Ridge Road where a nunter of cannon hallse uera
uncovered. . .

After the war the first piloneers of the Ridge arrived
and estatlish their homes, A Late United Empire Loyalizt
named John Glbson arrived from Salem, Massachusatis and
built an inn along the Lowver Ridge Road. Colonel Talboi's
road along Lake Erie had petkred out just past Morpsih due
to the Ten Mile  Bush and the Clergy rescrves in Harwich,
Therefore the increacsing traffic detoured at Morpath ulonp
the Lower Ridge Road which hecame referred to as the Uprer
Talbot- Road, until Talbot Road proper could be picked up arain
in Rzleigh, This provided Gibson with a Tairly gocd living

L

as o steady stream of settlers moved westward., This 2titroeted

blisnad *ls

a second innkeeper named Thomas Lambert who esta

1 E

tavern east of Gibson's, Looking to thz tulure lamberl sms

that his loczation on the Townline,between Harwich and ilowurd,
which had been laid out hoek in 1809, would have the advantage

of being on the northernm trall Lo Arrneld's IMill on the Thanes

'
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aé vell as the westarn traffic oﬁ tre Upper Talbot. Anobtber
1nnkeeper-pamed Daniel Carlisle wishing to prorit‘on this north
bound tr;ffic as well as some of the east - west movement
established his inn north of LamBert's on the corner of the
Townlive and the Upper RAdge Road which like the Lower was

an old Indian trail., Thus by 1220 the sites for the future
communities of the Front Ridge, Troy and Rushton's Cornesrs

nad been pionecred Hy these enterpising business men,

However the axe and plough were quick to follow in the
persons of John Toll and George Haynard., The Tolls tLook land
on the sixth concession of Harwich near Lhe Townline while
the saynards sellled tetween the Centre and Upper dldge Roads.
about: lot 15, Peter ¥Mc Kinlsy arrived in 12819 from Scotland
settling ian Howard north of Lambert's on the Townline whlle
his brothers Duncan and Hobert settled north of the Ridge.
Thgs several clearings began to open up in the Ten !Tile RBush
as ploneers arrived and roads were opensd and improved,

Up to 1820, the Upper Talbot Hoad was Che major artery
in southern Harwich bubt at Cthat time Talbot Road proper was
finully pushed across the township to Buckhorn ( Cedar Springs )
in llaleigh. However travellers still preferred the drier
and more frequented Upper Talbot to the marshy and desolate
Lower Talbol or 0ld Street as it was locally called to dis=-
tinquish it from the roadway on the Ridge. AL the same time
the Townline was resurveyed and work commenced on the traill
to maks 1t passable so0 that the grain could reach Arnold's
mill near Howard Bridge ( Kent Bridge ) ontthe Thames, It
ﬁould take til 1829 to acconmplish this tasﬁ. Heanwhlle the

.
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csorervmant, Lo hasten and cousolldave settlzment ia southiarn
Fent between_bhe‘Thanes and the lake, opened up chie Middle
Road in 1821 to 18323, Laid out along the height of laud
across the southern portions of {hne county, il followed the
present routz of County Road # 10 ( the forvmer Huy. # 98 )
from the west' into Harwich where the surveyors Look advant-
age of the Ridge. Following the Upper Talbot doad for a
short stretech, they swung the Middle Hoad north along the
Centre Line To the trail along the northern edge of the

ridge, In thls manner the new road would not parallel the
0l1d Street ( Talbot Rcad proper J too closely. The Middle
Road then svung to the east and followad the trail called

the Upper Ridge Road which today 1s known as the Zack dldge.
The new road crossed the Townline at Carlisle's Ina which
would have pleased ole' Danlel with this new source of
'potential customers which would follow. Continuing on into
Howard the Middle Road hugged the northearn ridge until Crfiord.
Following the surveyors were Edward Palmer and Alex larsu,
both from Morpeth who in 1823 pionesred the site of Howard
Ridge ( Ridgetown ) east of Carlisle's on the new Middie Road
which retained the name of the Upper Rlidge locally. In the
same year Richard Rushton arrived from Mova Scotla taking up
land on lots 7 & 8 in Howard along the Townline jusc accross
from Carlisle's Inn. Two years later in 182 his family
arrived including his thrée sons; Jeremiah, Oney and James
all of whom took up land arcund thelr father who died shorl-
ly after, Halling from Hova Scotia they were the descendarits

.

of linited Empire Loyalists with thelr ancestry basically
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Rushton's Corners

1.
2.
3.

Iy
L5 3

5!
6.
7.

8.

9e
10.
11,

12,

Resldence of James Rushton
Hesldence of Oney Rushton
desidence: of Squire Mc Cully
Qesidence of' Jeremiah Rushton
Silte of log schoél »

Site: of brick school

Residences of the Fennhcey'brothers
desidence of John Mills

Danlel Carlisle's Inn

Residence of Robert Barnes

Site of Thomas Barnes" peppermint mill

RHesidence of E. Venecy

The Rushton Cemetary

The Mllitary Reserve..



Welsh with some Indian blood. Richard's tales of bUhe new
land to be had, not only attracted his sons oul many of his
qua Scotlan neighbours of Loyalist' backgrounds also., John
Hills. E. Venecy, Squire Mc Cully and the two Fennacey WBrothers
quickly followed and helped to establish the thriving farm-
ing cogmunity called Rushton's Corners rather than Carlisle's
since the inn had closed for some unknown reason and Daniel
moved, Interestingly, Squire Mc Cully's orother Jonathan
would later be a Father of Confederation in Nova Scotia
while the son of John lM11ls would become the Honourable
David Mills, Another interesting event of 1825 was the
marriage of Jane Gibson, born 1807, daughter of John Gibson
of the Upper. Talbot Road to Abraham Holmes, born 1797, son
of Hugh Holmes of north Harwich who would later be the
parents of Dr, Tecumseh Holmes of Chatham,

In 1826, the site of the town of Blenheim was pioneered
By John Jackson who took up lots on either side of CLhe Upper
Talbot' Road near the intersection of the Communication and
Middle Roads. Later Jackson would be a prominent figure in
the town's history. However for the next ten or so years,
as the Chree villages of iHorpeth, Blenheim and Howard Ridge
( Ridgetown ) wgich triangulated the Ridge grew no new settlers
established themselves upon the ridges, The reputation of
the:- Ten Mile Bush as well as the prospects of cheaper and
easier~c1eared land further west!' drew all new comers away
from the district. However the Ridge did not stagnate but
on the contrary the pioneer families alrgady established

progressed rapldly. Each year more land was cleared as sons

o
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coming of age sought thelr own farms noext to that of their
parents. These new homesteads with their ever gxpanding
fields of grain wereinterconnected by better roads as the
0ld routes were improved with the removal of stuaps and the
construction of corduroy bridges and roadbeds. New roads
were opened up along the concessions while the Harwlich Base-
line and the Howard Road were also opened. The Marsh Road

( the present Mull Sideroad' ) was also laid out and partial;
ly opened but' the marshes on the Ridge made it' of little

use in joining the district with new settlements north and
south of the Ridge. A stage coach run belween Horpeth and
Chatham, Jjoining the busy Talbot Road settlement with the
growing town at the Forks, was started and expanded rapidlye.
Following the Upper Talbot Recad from Morpeth it made stops
at' Lambert's, Gibson's and Blenheim at which point it turned
north along the Communlcation Road towards Chatham, With
the coming of the stage lines regular mall delivery develop-
ed. Morpetﬁ recelved a post office to serve the surrounding
district hut the area proved too large., To remedy this a
second post' office was established at Gibson's Inn to service
the Ridge. It's offical title being the Harwich-Howard Post
Office, Western District', Upper Canada.

In regards to the agriculture along the Ridge the
farms were reported to equal or surpass those of any olher
section in the county. In 1333, James Ruddle, & visitor to
the district wrote an account of the crops grown along the
Ridge, Large fields, some up to forty agres, of whoat, rye,
corn, barley, oats, peas, beans, potatbeé and turnips wvere

.
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interspersed with orghards of 2pples, peuvs, pluas, and cheriies.
Gard an vegetables as musk and water melons, cuctsbevs, Sgquash,
carrots, parsunips, bheets, onlons hnd cabbagse rore comuon wand
ﬁroduced excoptional yoelds on the warum fertile Qldge soll.
Guosaoherrics, currents and raspberrlzss wérn groxa in largoe
quanticies as well. A greatb d==l of the hest quality tobacco
was grown also which 13 of 1little suprisz since the bect 3Burley
tohacco 1s still grown on ths Ridge. Ruddle als» raported
that not much flax or hemp was sown but of that whlch was,
it grew very well., Ruddle was not the only vne to note the
bounty and prosperity of the area for a year garlier a young
man named Andrew English had vislted and written houz dezcrib-
lng the district..

Andrew had come to the new world from County Down, Ira-
land in 1830 to seck a better life and new hora {or his widow-
ed mother, Jane English, and his brotrers ard sisters., Afbar
nearly two years of searching hre landed at the port of aAutrlum
just south of Morpeth and proceded to investigatbe the possibilitles
of the Ridge. Along the Back Ridge on the Upper Aldge Hoad
he found a suitable area which he wrote howe as belng well
wooded, fertile, easily dratned, with spring water and ire=
from malaria. Hera} he told his mother, Shay could have
fruit z2nd farms like those of Ireland. Aelucal.a: o Souavy
Down in 1832, Andrew shared his experiences to family and
friends: convincing them o1l of tlhe better lile that aviai vl
Thus‘in 155h, Tanz dnglish with two of her Lhccoe sons:
Andres und William Jr.., her son in lavi %pdrcw Leslie and

her two daughters Margaret and MaryJane %uft fovert, thne

..‘ ‘




b

thixrd son 1n-charge of the Tsonds in:Ireland and dep.rled
for thelir new hones on the idge, However Litcy wers not
alone for Andrew's tales had convinced the Hagpil, Balrd ard
“uckle families to immigrate to Upper Carada as wzll. The
group purchased £00 acres from the Canads Land Coupuny
which controlled all the remalining lands ia Lhe area gxcept
for the Crown Lands and Clergy Resorves. to the souih,
They established thelr community which beéame kitown as ths
Irish Settlement along the Back and Centre Ridges whers
good drainage would be assured, Technically they were not
Irish but belonged to the Scotch-Irish stock of Ulster having
enmigrated there from Fifeshire in Scotland after the great
Civil War in Zngland, Theodore Hoosevelt later stated. that
this race of strong, upright and resolute individusls, was
one of the best' fitted people to conguer the wilderness and
hold it. Thelr devotion to education, religlon and conmun-
ity 1ife drove them to establish churches and schools where
ever'thef Qettled. True to form these Scoteh-Irish familles
set' to work constructing & log school at the northeast corn-
er of the Baseline and the Upper Hidge Road on the land set-
tled by Andrew Leslie. His brothers in law: Andrew and Wil-
liam Jr. settled further west at the corners of the Marsh
and Upper Ridge Rozds with the Balrds taking lond further
north along the Marsh Road and the Muckles locating on the
Centre Ridge.

The Leslie school in the first year of the settlement
was the first school estahllished for thre Fntirc distrlict,
Students attended from the Upper, Centre Qnd Lower Ridge

-
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fondy as well as the scventh and elghtith coucesslons north

of the Ridge. PFuplls from 23 far west as tre Cuntre Line in
Harwich attended while in the east they came [rom nearly Aldge-
town in Foward., This school also accommodated and included

the chlildren or‘the Rushton's Corners and Townllne settle-
ments for the next twelve years despite a sharp rivilary which
was developing.

The Englishs planted orchards with fruit treestock which
they had carifully brouzht from Ireland as well as the first
cedar hedges in the ccunty., The year after their arrival
Jane English became a grandmother with the birth of Jamas
Leslie to Apndrew and lMaryJane. He was thea first white child
vo be born on the Hldge and so bacame the pride and Jjoy of
the settlement, Over the hext few years %stisted by the
Indians, these Scotch~Irish settlers learned about seacsonal
planting, tappinz Maéle trees with homemade wooden buckete,
hunting game and the uses of native medicinal herbs while
the settlement prospered..

Meanwhile along the Upper Taltot Aocad things were still
progressing well, In 1834 Reverend Willlam Proudfoot of the
United Secession Church of Scotland ( Presbyterian ) visit-
ed and preached in the district. He stayed at Gibson's Inn
whiclh he described as a very plain log house of several rooms
ﬁith a séaﬁle'which provided most comfortable accommodations
for man or beast on tﬁe road., He noticed a great swamp bhe-
hind the inn, paralleling the Front Ridge which after sun-
set produced s dense white fog which blanﬁeted the area be-

tween the Front  and Back Ridges. He also{reported that a
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deep hand dug drain bad recently been cut through a portion
of trhe marsh to aid in it's drainege as potential farm land
and to permit the completlion of the Marsh Road across the
Ridge. This drain i1s still in use although greatly enlarged
and slightly altered by modern means. Several stage lines
rnow operated hetween Morpeth and Chatham and points beyond.
This resulted in several new rival stage coach stops being
established east and west of Gibson's. To counter this a
frame Yullding of heavy timbers (which is still standing)
was constructed beside Glbson to accommodate stage passengers
during the stop over.

Mré.lAnna Jameson, another visitor to the area in
1837, did not' think aé highly of Lambert's Inn as Proudfoot
had of Gibson's,. She described Lambert's as a cruvde build-
ing of logs consisting of only one room which was lighted
By only a single window at'one end. At the other end she
stated that a lodging or sleeping place had been divided
off by some planks from the common room., The horses and
livestock were housed together in a shed of bar¥ and Boughs
with the hollow trunk of a tree acting as a water trough.
She however being from a earlier settled and further advanced
district;‘found'the area quite primitive and the roads
impassable. Fortunately others did not agree with Mrs.
Jarmeson's view of the Ridge as a new wave of settlers arrived.

In 1837 Robart' Barnes arrived; taking land near his
former- Nova Scotian neighbours who welcomed him as another
sturdy Loyalist' pieneer. The following y?ar Eli jah and loses

Newcombe  arrived reinforcing the Irish Settlement along the
"
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BJck Ridge. In 1829, John Hidley purchased 207 acres of
Crown Land in Harwich across from Lambert®s Inn, Prior lo
this no new farms had bYeen established on the Lower Ridge
Road sirce after the War of 1812. An American named Issac
Swarthoubt arrived from Troy, New York about the the same
time and establiished a sawmlll near the same corner to
exploit' this still heavily timbered area., IHe also took the
1ib%erty of renaming the old Lambert’ intersection to Troy in
honour of his old hometown, In 1840 Peter Spingsteen pur-
chased 200 acras just east of Troy followed By Alex Laird
in 1842 who settled on the sixth concession or the Lower or
Spring Ridge Road as it cams to Be called after the original
Lower Ridge or Upper Talbot Road changed its name to that
of the Front Ridge.

Meanwhile in 1841, David S. Baldwin had purchased
Gibson"s lmmr as well as the surrcunding 100 acres from the
Crown, The farm, tavern and the Harwich-Howard Post Office
were operated by his son Samruel while he successfully con-
tinued to run his chain of five Inns =2long the Talbot Road
in Orford and Howard,

While things were progressing along the Front Ridge,

a regular feud had broken out hetween the Nova 3cotlian Loyal-
ists of Rusﬁton's Corners and the Scectch-Irish of the Rack
Ridge,. This hostlility was further aggrievated by the grow-
rivilary between the developing townships of Foward and Harwich,
In 1843 the Rushton settlement held a2 school ralsing hee and
construéted a log bulilding on the northegst corner of the

Back Ridge Road and the Townline on Jaco® Rushton's farm,

.
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The event' was attended by Squire Mc Cully, The Rushtonsz,
Captain Cochrans, John Scane and David {ills ag well as
other prominent. citizens, They then cplit their section off
the old Leslie school section to the annoyance of the 3Back
Ridge, A fierce rivilary developed rapldly helween the
Ieslie School, S.S.# 6, Harwich end Rushton School, S.S5.# 7,
Howard which stood only a mile away.

I the same year the first township meeting was held
in the new Rushton school marking the beginning of loecal
manicipal government ‘in Howard Township. Christopher Arnold,
the well known Thames miller was chairman. George Duck and

Johrr Willizams were elected Distrlct Councillors while Thomas

Rushton was elected clerk, HRichard Rushton; assesor;and

William Sheldon; collector.

The Honourable David Mills who attended both these events
Iater taught at the Rushton School but went on to higher
educatlion and politics. Fe became the first superintendent
of puhlie schools in Kent County for Howard and Orford town=-
ships. In 1872, he was hired by the province to examins and
define the northwest boundary of Ontario, Elected to the.
provincial assembly in 1864, he continued nis political career
and by 1378 he had served as Une NMinister of Justice, as well
as the Minister of The Interior for Alexander lMc Kenzie.
He held a parliamentary seat from 18382 to 1896 at which time
he was a appointed to the Senate, A year later he was made
a Justice of the Supreme Court of Canada.

With the new township administration firmly establisn-
ed, the council set aside twelve acres ulgng the Back Ridge

!
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Road acrovss lrom Line school as a military tralialag ground
for tre local militia, It was comwmon practicz at that tlue
for all able-bodlied mals inhablitanis between the ages of
eighteen and forty five to assemble at least once a year for
fraining and drills., However thls annual ritual occurred
only once or twice on this military reserve which remained
a weedy fizld for several decades,

lleanwnile at Troy Issac Swarthout' had prospered and
his sawmlll expanded., It was a steam powered blade or whip
saw cutting the lumber with an up and down motlon since the
clrcular saw had not yet been invented. For many years it
was Lhe largest steam operated sawmlill in Canada., ILunber
cut‘at thls'mill was used in the construction of many of the
new frame houses which were replacling the old log homes,
In 1843, John Ridley built & new frame home entirely of Tulip-
wood as did John Mills and.Jacob Rushton who used solld Walnub
in thelr homes, all of which are still standing. 3Baldwin

also bougnt lumber to build a new tavern which l1ls a2lso still

- standing. The business at Swarthout's mill soon attracted

more people to Troy which grew at a startling rate., AL one
point it surpassed the villages of lorpeth and Elenneimn,

Sam Lambert'bullt a large new frame hofel and opened a Cooper
shop for the manufacture of barrels,. Willlam Ridley opened

a Blacksmith shop while Sylvester Jacobs established his Shoe
shop nearby. The Filby's opened a store but by 1854, it had
been renovated and was used as a school and church. The influx
of new people had required a third schoolgto locat in Troy

which resulted in the appearance of two new teachers: Kr.

[l
:

Robear and John Finnegan who built homes ﬁn the village as

wany were doing. This school was known as U.S.5.# 1, Harwich
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THE VILLAGE of WEST FAIRFIELD

1,
2,
3.
L.
5
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.

17.

19.
20,
21.
22,
23.

25,

Present Troy Church - demolished 1970
Methodist Parsonage
Cooper Shop owned by Sam Lambert
Residence of Peter Tonuk
Residence of Jas Craig
Swarthout residence
Residence of Mrs. John Steward
Swarthout Office and yard
Filby's Store = later used as a school and a church under Mr. Wade
(minister)
Lambert's Hotel = later used as a General Store
Teetasel residence
Residence of William Watson
Shoe Shop owned by Sylvester Jacobs
Residence of Jas Woods
Residence of Mrs. Betts - later a hotel operated by Mrs. Burk
- also contained the 'Fairfield' post office,
store and a boarding house.
Residence of William Ridley
Saw Mill owned by Issac Swarthout
Residence of Cyprus Thatcher
Residence of John Smith
Residence of Jas Magee
Residence of Mr. Robear
Residence of Mrs. Holley
Residence of Jno Richards
Residence of Luke Remnington

Residence of John Remnington
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THE VILLAGE of WEST FAIRFIELD

26.
27.
28,
29,

31.

32.

33.

35,

3?.

Residence of Mrs, Liddy Watson

Residence of John Finnegan

Blacksmith Shop owned by William Ridley

Residence of Joseph Scraf

Residence of Henry Wilsher

Residence of David Watson

Cheese Factory owned by the Clarks

Residence of Robert Watson

Residence of Sam Lambert

Steward Residence

The Swarthout Sawmill Yard = covered over 10 acres
- employed 35 men plus teamsters
- exported via Northwood Station

or the Morpeth Dock.

The YWilson Farm

The Stinson Farm

The Johm Ridley Farm

Post office ( still Standing)

Residence of John Ridley ( still standing)
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& Foward and ocoupled the store until 187¢,

The Lesliés and Bnglishes were instrumental in estable
ishing the United Presbyterian Church of Harwich which held
its first services 1ln the old store under the guidance of
Heverend A, Y, Waddell in 1854, Prior to this s trek of over
twenty miles was necessary over rough roads bto reach the Unit-
ed Presbyterian Church on Wellington Streel in Chatham which
many of ths faithful accomplished regularly. A new post office
was establisned at Troy to service the area since 1ts populat-
ion had climbed steadlily., The Swarthout sawmill had a ten
acre yard which was fllled to capacity with piles of logs
hauled 1n Yy sled durlng the winter from the surrounding
bush. The mill employed over thirty five men ﬂhich dié not
include the teamsters who hauled the sawn lumber by wagon
and sled to Northwood Station and the Yorpeth Dock for export,
The mill hoyever was also kept busy.wlth a2 steady local demand
for lumber with all the new homes and barns being put upe.

The Troy mall ran into problems when & second Troy post
of fice was found to exist near Toronto., Therefore at avold
confusion the postal name was changed to Fairfield wnich a
f'ew years later proved to be as troublesome slnce there al-
ready exlsted a Fairfield post office near Brantford. In
an attempt to settle the matter, they c%ahgad the name to
West Fairfield but mlx ups continued to plague the malil,
Finally the name Ridley, after one of the oldest ploneering
families, was chosen for the village as well as t»~ pOst office
and this remained the name until the positjoffice closed when

it reverted back to the original Troy.

T a
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The Clarke fanlly opencd a cheese factory in Troy as
dairy cattle hecame more numerous in the area and the excess
wilk could not be consumed. For awhile Lambert's Hotel got
competition from the  Burt Hotel which was opened by a Mrs.
3urt who also opsrated a store, boarding house and the post
office all from the same large frame bullding. Lawmberts
however closed thelr hotel about 1880. Converted to a general
store the bullding continued to serve the coummunity although
it* exchanged hands several times,

The Methodists under Reverend Graham were able to bulld
a brick church and parsonage about 1870 in Troy. The Pres-
byterians then moved their services to the Rushton School
since 1t was closer to the largely Presbyterian Back Ridge.
The village peaked at well over three hundred residence and
continued to thrive untll after the turn of the century.

tleanwnile the feud bet!ween Rushtom and Leslie Schools
had not cooled but were further inflamed by the Troy School
which sided with Rushton. Regular battles with sticks and
stones occurred between the three schools at noon hours and
recesses in a gulley along the sixth concession which was
about in the middle for all three, Andrew English concerned
for the well being of the students leased one acre of land
fo the Ridge Community for ten shillings per annun oa which
to bulld a new school., Thus in 1850 a new white frame school
house was bullt at the corner of the Mull Siderocad ( the old
Marshn Road ) and the Back Hidge road’ placing the old school
& faly distance from its rivials, It'retained the number

S.S5.# 6, Farwich but' changed its name to Epglish's School

.
i
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THE VILLAGE of THE FRONT RIDGE

1.
2,
3.
k.
5.
6.

o (IR 5

Stableq operated by Stage Coach Stop
Shed

Chicken Coop

Maple Sugar Hut

Pgivate Residence

Shoe Repair Shop with Private Residence
Tavern owned by John Gibson = later the Stage Coach Stop
Inn operated by the Baldwins
Blacksmith Shop

Private Residence

An English-Cerman style Barn

A double corn Crib,with Tobacco Loft
The Front Ridge Cemetary

The Great Swamp

The Lower Swamp

The Corral

Chicken yard

Village Garden

Maple Trees

Black Locust Trees

Wells



in honour of its benef~ctor.

In the ensuelng years many new cgettlers arrived filling
in the gaps and’ replacing the old plonzering families, Fhilip
Ridley, Hajor Conrad Rowe, William Stinson, Reuten Fattice,
Sam Tedford, Robert Ceveland and James Plckerling are only a
few of these new arrivals, 3By 1873 thers vwere enough larms

roducing large acreages of grain that HMartin and Abrahan
Kennedy who were profesglonal threshers settled on the Front
Rldze Road. A bYlacksmith and a shop repair shop as well as
several new homes were bHilld near Baldwins [forming the nucleus
of the Front Ridge Community. The stage coach still ran
regularly from Forpeth to Chatham carrying the mails HBut now
it went along the Talbot Road to Eatonville and from there
up the Townline to Troy since the portion of the Froant Ridge
Road between Morpeth and Troy had heen obliterated by the
modern surveys, The Hldze prospered with an ever increasing
farming community as well as light industries. A pottery

snop and a new cheese factory were establisned just =ast of
3

* the Mull Sideroad on the Froant Ridge Road closz to the coun-

munity by that name, In 1882 Major Confad Rowe opened his
Brick and Tile factory on the Baseline, Interestingly !ajor
Rowe or Captain’as he was nicknamed, had worked his way up
throught the ran¥%s until he had taken commend of Lhe 2%th
Batalion Infantry of the County of Xent Militia,

Fack in 1276 the Aushton community had prospered o
well thdt they went to the expense of bullding tha
Brick school house on the Ridge instecad of!replaclinsg the old
log structure with a cheaper frame bullding, Squire ae Cully
and Reuhen Matbice then travelled to the ﬁ&rld'u fair ag

Fhiladelphis tbo obtaln a large bell to fop: the st

SUC LAY &,
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Zven though the area had appearcd to be still cxpanding 1t
actunlly had peaked, The Troy school closcd “ha tawe year
as Fushtons bullt sendiug thelr chlldren to the new School,
The decreasc in sfudents in both sectlons foirced thzlr meorger
to form only on§ section called U.S.8.# 7, Howard & # 1, Harwicne.
However thls problem never faced Bnglishec school which
was always filled bo capacity. When in 1837, the Rldge Cou=
munities wished to build a new brick school, a heated Gebalbe
developed over the locatlon of the new school, The Daclt Ridge
as well as the northern concessions wanted to miild on the
same slte, Howevzr those along the Centre, Front and Lower
Ridges wished tbo build at a more central location on the ull
Sideroad near the Centre Ridge Road., The matter was tinally
settled by a public vote which resulted in the new bullding,
béeing put up on the old site of the Frame structure, ISowever
this controversey left a slight rivilary between Lhe two grougs
which lasted untll quite recently. The old fraunec school was
moved to a cornér of the school yard whers 1t zerved as a
church for several years until it was sold to Thomas English
and moved Lo the Centre Ridge where: it is still in use ag an
implement* shed, With the completion of the new bricl, all

3

of which were made in the Rowe brick yard, sctructurs, the

- S

Presoyterianm services were transferred from the Rusnbton Schicol

to the new English School where they werzs coulliuvally held
until 1920, At that time a fraase church was moved by m2ans

- .-

ive 'rwiles [1oiy Blennsim

)

of log rollers a distance of over

to itz present:site on the Mull Sldercad.

cr

By the end of the century the area bud beern entiraly

settled and was covered with large graln fields, nunmcrous

-
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orchards and herds of dairy cattle uihizh Xept the cheese
factories husy. Zowever with the extisction of the areat
Ten ¥Mile BusH, Swarthout's sawmill folded markizg the eand
of the'hooﬁing Troy community. One by one the-storess a:nd
spops closed and the bulldings torn down as wers many of
the hemes, By World Har I the process was nearly complatse
leaving only a handful of houses, the brick church and the
closed post office. Clarke's cheese factory was converted
into a harn and was used until fire destroyed it., Swarthout's
elaborate office was moved to the John Deere farm west of
Troy where it 15 5till in use as an ilmplement shed,
post office with the mail slot still in the dcor is also still
standing on the Verne Arnold farm.

The Lake Erie and Detroit River Rallroad as well as
the Southern Canada Railway which both passed norih of the
Ridge killed the hopés of Morpeth as the county seat as well
as all the stage coach Iines, This not only finished tre
Troy and Farwich-Yoward post offices but eanded the hotel
Business along the Front' Ridge Road, With lzss trafiic the
Burt Hotel and The: Baldwin Inn closed, The srall Front Bidge
community soon fell apart as the shoe repalr shop closad and
was torn down as were the few houses, 3Baldwin's frame building
was moved beside the old stage bullding and the two renoval-

ac«=-

ed

ed into a confortable house wnich is still in use. The b
smith remained until the first Wdorld ¥War and then closed also,
Modern competition after the war closed the pottery mokers
and the cheese factory along the Front Ridge as well as the
brick yard on the Baseline. The cheese factory was moved

:
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kack from tre rgad and is still used as a barn on the Robert
dove farm. Only shusllow pits still mark where the potters
dug into the ridge for sulbable cloy.shile the plough still
turns up bits of brick and tile along the Baseline.

Jowever despite the decline of businesses of Troy and
the Front Hidge;, two enterprising individuals along the Dack
Ridge were busy with new endeavours. Thomas Barnes son of
Robert Barnes who had settled near Rushton's Corners in 13839,
builtr a peepermint mill in 1898, Comprising of a press and
a still the small building stood on the Baseline with the
peppermint field directly behind it. The plants were plupped
iﬁ the press and then the resulting mash distilled into the
Issence of Peppermint as well as Peppermint Oil., Over one
hundred pounds of tne oil was produced annually. The arroma
of peppermint could be smelt as far away as troy on a calm
day during the harvest, Peppermint candy was also produced
to the delight of the children who passed by everyday on their
trek to school, Besides the mill Thomas Barnes was a natural
inventor and is noted for having designed and bullt a power
lathe, a violin and 2 musical phonograph which was patented
and sold for several years prior to the War, The mill operated
continuously until well after the first World Wair with the
only disruption teing a police raid to QEize the still which
was suspected of being used for the production of Moonshine.
The of ficers wers embarassed %o find only candy and a fresh
peppernint mash in the suspected still.

The: other individual was Leslie English, son of William

Jr. English of the Back Ridge. Leslie had studied the ways
3
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of the Indian since a child, learning their native medicinal
herbs, He had collected the Ginseng root and cultivatad it
under 3 spscial latticed covered area on his father's farr,
In 1899 the Glnseng's medicinal uses becama well known and
popular due to a book written by Maurice Kalns of New York.
Leslie enlarged nis cultivation to meet the demand. The CGine
seng was exported to New York and on to China with a2 small
jar of seeds going for over nine dollars. The only other
conmerical cultivation of Ginseng in Canada was by Indiens
near Brantford. This profitable enterprise lasted well ianto
the new century.

However after the war all of the small busliness and
industries of the Ridge had Yeen elimlnated by the growing
towns of Blenheim and Ridgetown which drew them into thelr
own spheres, Morpeth by now had fallen by the waj side,

Municipzl gravel plts were opensd at veoricus locations
along the ridges to provide gravel for thé improvement of
Farwich's roads with the coming of the automoblle., Fowever
before this Statute Labour had been expscted [rom each farmsr
for the up keep of the roadway fronting his property. A4
Path Master was appointed to be 1ln charge of the wrozd and
keep a record of the statute labour done, Accordlng to thelr
road frontage, esch farmer was assigrned a certain number of
days of statute labour towards the care of his road, This
could be shnortenad by the loaning of a team or wagon for haul-
ing gravel or by agreeing to scrap the road, |

About this time Wilke's Station and ,spur along the
Piere Marguectte Railwéy were closed, Buliﬁ‘in the esarly

¥
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1860's just below the Ridge the trains of the Lake Zrie and
Detrolt River #sllrond stopped there regularly pleking up
passengers as well as car loads of grain, livestock and hay
for export from the Ridge. However the company had changed
hands and modern transport made it impractical to delay the
trains there any longer. Thus ended another era in the history
of the Ridge as its direct railway link with the outside world
yas severed., The area was slowly losing 1ts independence

as more and more Business had to be trannsacted in the neigh-
Bouring towns inste2ad of the loczal area.

Some =zxcitement, was stirred up by the discovery of
natural pas in the area but the deposlis were insufficent
to atiract’ sny devalopers walch might have revived the dlstrict
conmerically. However numerous wells were drilled to supply
free gas heatlng and lightlug for Che school as viell as many
area nowes for the next decade,

This 18 not to say that the Ridge was stagnatlng or
dying. ©On the contrary it remalned one of the most progressive
agricultural districts in Xent County. Zemalining gqulite diversi-
fied there continued tp be a wide variety of crops produced
and sold in local and world markets. Daliry and fruit farms
of long standing were thriving concerns antil most recent when
production costs and low markets forced mosti to switch to other
spacialities, Tobacco has always been a major crop along the
gravel ridges, 3Burley is still the numBer one crop on most
farms although when Flue-cured tobacco was introduced to Canada
in 1927 some farmers experlimented with 1t'in the area. Other
Crops o8 corn,soysbeans, while beans, oabé and winter wheat

.
.



have always veen and continus to he lmport-ant crops as are
the potaboes'grown in the area. OJugar beebs vere also grown
on the Ridge until the Sugar Plant's closure in Chatham,.
lfore recently tomatoes, cucumbers and peppers have come Lo
play an important role in thsz districts' economy.

llo thought after such a long history of farming in
tﬁis community, agriculture will remain the primary industry

of the Ridge for many years to come., However with the closing

of the rural schools in 1967 the identity of .the Ridge as

a comaunity has been severely shaken for the schools and

churchs are wnhat holds a district' together. The little rural
church stlll remains but with the passing of i1t the name

and history ol the Ridge will slip away with the next generatiomn.

The end..
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